Editorial 

REAPING THE WHIRLWINDS
Shortly after the Dodhipora, Handwara incident, amidst the unabated protests by the villagers, a team of the Public Commission on Human Rights accompanied by a Dutch lady visited the Dodhipora village. The Dutch lady had worked as a researcher on militarization in the conflict zones like Iraq, Afghanistan and Tibet etc. She was shocked on observing two things. One, the level of militarization in the valley that she had never experienced in any other conflict area and second, the way the boys were shot dead while playing cricket. After getting information on other such killings in the valley where it is a phenomenon, she expressed her anguish that outside world is seldom aware over such killings in Kashmir comparing other conflict areas like Palestine, Iraq and Ireland etc. At the spot of the killings, she was moved to tears and all she could do was, sympathize with the family members. It is a complete failure of the civil society of Kashmir, she observed. She suggested to the team that a symbolic memorial comprised of the stones gathered by the villagers should be laid on the spot of killings so that the villagers could commemorate the incident every year. She suggested that such incidents should not get erased from human memory and therefore, people should lay stones or take other symbolic material on these spots everywhere where such type of killings are carried.

Every sphere of life has been affected in Kashmir over the last 16 years. However, the women and the student’s casualty in the state are enormous. Students have been subjected to torture, custodial deaths, enforced disappearances etc. According to a survey, in last 3 years more than 103 students, including minors have got killed in shootouts, cross firing, grenade attacks, fiddling with explosives and mine blasts. In the year 2002, 8 children got killed in different violence related incidents across the state. In 2003 - 42 children, in 2004 - 16 children and in 2005 - 37 children got victimized across the state. 

Under public pressure, out of the 77 probes ordered by the previous government from November 2002 – November 2005 in human rights violations, 9 probes are related to the children. Only in one probe, Javaid Ahmad Wagay, a student, was dragged out from the window of his house at Lasjan by the army while preparing for the exams and killed in cold blood on 1st May 2003. Exceptionally, in this probe, Assistant Commissioner Budgam appointed as an enquiry officer indicted an army officer Subedhar S. Sinha and his associates. Even, after completion of the investigation by the police, hitherto, no prosecution has been initiated. The state police have no translators for sending the case dairies to Home Ministry for sanction mandatory under Armed Forces Special Powers Act, where it should be in Hindi language not in Urdu. The irony is that the police officials are asking the victim’s father to get it translated. 

Students have been the most vulnerable section in the society. The major harassment to them is providing the validity of their identity cards. The students have been used in many forced labour incidents and as human shields. Many incidents have been reported where the army has coerced them for working as an informer in their counter insurgency campaign and even sometimes, the militants have engaged students for throwing grenades on military targets and also used them as arm carriers. It is not only the killings but also the universally recognized student rights that have been denied to them in universities and colleges, as they have not been allowed to constitute unions. The students in university and colleges are victimized for political opinions. Even on normal agitations relating to their academic demands the administration is victimizing them. It is a pity that a state with one hundred thousand teachers, having a powerful teachers association is always busy only highlighting their service rights, then the rights of their students. Two years back, newly constituted teachers association had claimed to constitute a Human Rights Cell, which later they could not constitute for various explicit reasons, as being public servants they cannot be the champions of human rights, but can only serve the state. Students feel totally isolated and frustrated; they don’t know what to do, they are disillusioned with the politicians. They have no ideologues and guides. The sole responsibility lays on the elders particularly the civil society, who have to stand for the protection of their rights. Unlike, their contemporaries in other developed countries, where the younger generation is reaping the dividends of their forefathers, who have shed their blood, tear, toil and sweat for their betterment. Here, they are reaping the whirlwinds of their forefathers. They are justified in treating them with contempt and would be justified in seeking apology from the elder generation for the malfeasance, misfeasance and nonfeasance. It is the responsibility of the present generation, how they can reach to the future generations, so that the sufferings should end and they should reap the benefits of the leaders like in other places.
CARNAGE OF FOUR PERSONS IN HANDWARA 

On 22nd February 2006, four persons including 2 minors were allegedly killed by the troops of 33-Rashtriya Rifles (RR) while they were playing cricket in Dodhipora, Handwara of district Kupwara in North Kashmir about 95 kilometers away from Srinagar. The deceased persons were identified as Ghulam Hassan Bhat (18) son of Ghulam Rasool Bhat, Mohammad Aamir Hajam (09) son of Mohammad Akbar Hiram, Shakir Ahmad Wani (07) son of Ghulam Hassan Wani and Abdul Samad Mir (21) son of Mohammad Ahsan Mir. All of them were the residents of Dodhipora village.

The incident provoked large-scale condemnation from political, non-political parties. The state government ordered a judicial inquiry into the incident. Large-scale demonstrations were held by the people to protest against the killings. 

The Informative Missive visited Dodhipora village to collect first hand accounts from the eyewitnesses and the residents of the village. Ghulam Rasool Bhat father of slain Ghulam Hassan while talking to The Informative Missive said, “At about 12:30 pm a patrolling party of 33-RR cordoned the area and ordered the villagers to remain inside their houses. Immediately, after the announcement, we heard a barrage of gunfire. On hearing the firing, I along with my other neighbours came out and rushed towards the playing field where our children were playing cricket. But, army threatened us and ordered to remain inside. We could not move out until our children were killed by the bullets of the troops”. 


 Ghulam Hassan father of slain Shakir Ahmed Wani said, “We were inside our houses when we heard heavy firing. We tried to move out to protect our children who were playing in an open field. We pleaded the army to allow us into the field. But they paid no heed”.


He further said, “Troops of 33 RR headed by its Captain Sudeshan (Rambo) alias Ajaz Khan laid a siege of Dodhipora village. The village was cordoned at about 12:30 pm and after 20 minutes we heard several rounds of gunfire. The whole village was under cordon up to 2:45 pm and we were not allowed to move out of our houses”.


Ishfaq Ahmad Bhat (eye witness, who was also present in the playground at the time of incident) told, “As many as 30 boys were in the playground and a cricket match was in progress between two local teams. All of us were busy with the match and in the meantime, we heard the sound of bullets. Panic spread as we ran helter skelter towards our village but en route we saw a huge number of army personnel on the roadside of the village. Their weapons were aimed towards us, forcing us to take different routes. We rushed towards the stream to escape. The stream is right behind the playground. Some of the children were not able to cross the stream of their own. One of the villagers, Ghulam Hassan showed great courage and by risking his own life, he carried 12 children one by one across the stream. Ghulam Hassan was about to get the other stranded children, in the meantime; the bullets of the troops found him. Army fired at Ghulam Hassan when he was carrying Shakir on his back. Both of them, died on the spot. Aamir, also received a bullet in his leg and fell on the ground. He was screaming and crying for help but nobody listened to him till he lost all his blood. After many hours, police took him to the hospital however, the hospital authorities declared him as brought dead”.

 Idrees Ahmad Khan (eyewitness) told The Informative Missive, “I was also saved by Ghulam Hassan. When army spotted us near the stream, they started firing indiscriminately at us. Ghulam Hassan would have escaped safe if he had not cared for others.  He was a brave and courageous person”. 

Tariq Ahmad, a local resident disclosed to The Informative Missive that, “Captain Rambo of 33 RR frequently used to call Abdul Samad Mir (who also died in the incident) to the army camp and asked him to work as an informer for the army, which he denied. Few days before the incident, Captain Rambo had summoned him again in the camp but he didn’t go to the camp. The captain was irked by Samad’s defiance. On that fateful day, Abdul Samad was walking towards the playground and was shot dead by the same troops who cordoned the village. The other three deceased persons were students and got killed by the firing of the same troops”.


Fazi, grandmother of slain Aamir while expressing her woes said, “Aamir died because of late arrival of help and lack of medical treatment. He was killed despite being innocent”.

  
Slain Abdul Samad’s father, Mohammad Ahsan protests, “My son was a father of an 8 month old daughter. He was in no way associated with militancy and was killed for refusing to become an army informer”.


Ruby, sister of slain Ghulam Hassan wails, “My brother had recently passed his 12th class examination and had fetched 73% marks. He was good at studies and also possessed the best cricketing skills in the village. But, the very efficient boy was killed by the bullets of the troops”. 


Sarva, mother of deceased Shakir said, “Yes, army killed my innocent son. What was the fault of my seven year old son and why was he killed?”

Abdul Rashid Bhat, a local and an agriculture officer said, “Bodies of all the four killed persons were kept in the playground for about more than two and a half hours. When police came to the village, they took the dead bodies to the police station Handwara. The villagers demonstrated over the incident and demanded for the stern action against the perpetrators”.


He further adds, “On 23rd February, Deputy Commissioner (DC), Inspector General Police (IGP) K. Rajendra, other high ranked officials and media organizations visited the village. The DC and the IGP assured the families and villagers that stern action would be taken against the culprits”.

However, the army version differs from the first hand accounts of the eyewitnesses and the residents of the Dodhipora village. According to the defence spokesman, “Army while cordoning the area came under heavy fire from militants. Four persons were killed in crossfire between the militants and the army”.

“Abdul Samad Mir was a known over ground worker of Lashkar-e-Toiba who was booked earlier by the police, along with another boy. Militants killed both the persons, presuming that they were providing information to the army about the locations of the hiding militants. In the exchange of fire, two other boys also got injured and both succumbed to their injuries on way to hospital. Two army soldiers also sustained injuries and have been referred to the army hospital. However, the militants managed to escape from the scene”, defence spokesman claimed.

STUDENT SHOT DEAD IN THE HEART OF THE CITY

Entire valley was shocked by the Handwara 22nd February incident in which four persons were allegedly killed by the Indian troops while they were playing cricket. People were still reeling under the shock which was further revived by another killing incident, the very next day, that too in the Lal Chowk area, the heart of the Srinagar city. 

On 23rd February, unidentified gunmen shot dead twenty-six-year–old Irshad Ahmad Ahangar (university student) son of Ghulam Nabi resident of Baghwanpora, Noor Bagh, Srinagar in Srinagar’s main business area, Lal Chowk. Irshad’s family alleges that the forces of Central Reserve Paramilitary Force (CRPF) have killed him. However, CRPF and police have refuted the allegations as baseless.

While talking to The Informative Missive, Imtiyaz Ahmad Ahangar, elder brother of slain Irshad Ahmad said, “My brother was a regular student of Kashmir University pursuing his masters degree in Islamic Studies and was about to appear in the final semester examinations. In the morning of February 23, he left the home for submitting application form in the Services Selection Board (SSB). In the afternoon, news came to us that Irshad Ahmad has been shot dead at court road, Lal Chowk. We rushed to the spot and found large gathering of people at court road who were demonstrating against the killing of my brother. We enquired from the nearby shopkeepers about the incident. The shopkeepers who witnessed the incident said that Irshad Ahmad needed photostat copies of his qualification certificates for which he went to a photostat shop in court road, Lal Chowk. As soon as he entered the shop, some CRPF personnel came out of a car and fired at him. He received two bullets one on the right cheek and another on the forehead, which led to his death on the spot. The shopkeepers said that the CRPF personnel, then entered into the nearby CRPF bunker”.


Ghulam Nabi Ahangar, father of the slain Irshad Ahmad said while lamenting over the killing of his son, “My son had been booked under Public Safety Act (PSA) twice in his life. First time, he was booked for 2 years under PSA during his college days. He was charged for having connections with militants. After his release, he resumed his studies and a year later, he was again arrested and booked under the same act for 2 more years. On his second detention, he was released in quick time, as nothing was found guilty against him. Both the times, the forces tortured him. Thereafter, he was coerced by the security agencies to work for them as an informer, which he denied. His refusal led to his killing”.


He adds while grousing, “One of the high ranked police officials gave a vilifying statement on one of the local news channels that Irshad Ahmad was killed by militants as he was working as an informer with the forces. The statement was totally baseless and absurd and was just to hush up the matter. The statement was also intended to turn away the attention of the people from the atrocities of the Indian forces”.

Imtiyaz, brother of slain Irshad said, ”We did not register any case because we do not have any solid proof or evidence against the CRPF which would bring the culprits to the book”.


While refuting allegations, Senior Superintendent Police (SSP) Srinagar - Munir Khan, told that the deceased person was a released militant and was shot dead by unidentified gunmen. Public Relations Officer (PRO) CRPF also refuted the allegations by saying that there were three unidentified terrorists traveling in an auto rickshaw who stopped at Gurdwara lane and shot bullets at Irshad, killing him on the spot.

”On hearing the gunshots, a quick reaction team of CRPF personnel chased the terrorists who entered into a house at court road area. The CRPF cordoned the area, however, the terrorists managed to escape”, said PRO CRPF.
MORTAR SHELLING KILLS A WOMAN

On 24th February 2006, Sara Begum (33), wife of Farooq Ahmad resident of Seer Mohalla, Chittibandi, Bandipora of district Baramulla (65 kilometers away from Srinagar) was killed by a mortar shell fired by the army. The villagers condemned the incident and wide scale demonstrations were held against the killing. 

The village Chittibandi lies on the periphery of the mountains of Bandipora. Usually the inhabitants of the village are associated with farming and other agricultural resources. On 8th February 2004, five residents of the village were allegedly killed as human shields. The persons were taken out forcibly from their houses and were used as shields by the army at an encounter site in the area. After a gap of two years, on 24th February 2006, Sara Begum- a mother of 2 minor children was allegedly killed by the Indian army who fired a mortar shell at her house. 

The Informative Missive visited the area and enquired from the bereaved family about the incident.


Farooq Ahmad Bhat (35), a labourer by profession and husband of the deceased Sara expressed his anguish while talking to The Informative Missive, “On 24th February, in the evening, we were taking our dinner and we heard the sound of gun-fire. It was very dark and there was no electricity as well. I told my wife and children to take food quickly so that we could go to bed early. After hastily finishing our dinner, we went into our bedroom. At around 8:30 pm, as soon as my wife and two children laid down into our beddings, I heard explosive reverberation out side my house and some dazzling light appeared through the polythene window cover of our room. I got up and moved outwards. I reached in the corridor and I saw another dazzling light followed by a strong explosion, just behind me, from the room in which we were sleeping. I rushed back to my room and I found my wife in the pool of blood, her head and right arm was blown into pieces”.


He further adds, “The explosions were of the mortar shells which were fired by the army. The first mortar shell hit our courtyard of our house and the second one struck my wife killing her on spot. My two children, Umar (10) and Shahid (6) who were also sleeping in the same room were luckily saved by the God’s grace. The shell that struck my wife had hit the edge of shaft of our roof first and then entered into the room after breaking our window. Since that fateful day, my children are living under fear and incessant distress. My traumatized children often ask and inquire about their mother. I avert their attention by saying that their mother is in hospital for the treatment. I could not tell them anything else, because they were present at the occurrence of the incident”.


Ghulam Mohammad Bhat, brother in law of Sara Begum while expressing his hopelessness said, “After one hour of the fatal explosion, the police personnel from police post Arigam, Bandipora came to our house. They took the dead body to the police station and kept it there for the night. The police also took the remains of the mortar shells. One of the shells was bearing a number 12788/81mm ILL. The mortar shells belong to the 5 Jat (Sikh) regiment army post camped at Garoora Sangri, Bandipora. The police have lodged an FIR about the incident”.


He adds with anguish, “Next day, the villagers took the dead body to the Tehsil office, Bandipora. All the villagers started to demonstrate against the killing. The protesters were clamoring for justice and punishment to the perpetrators. Not a single government official visited the area. Finally, the protesters took the dead body back to the village and buried it in the graveyard. After two weeks of the incident, concerned MLA (Member of Legislative Assembly) Usman Majeed visited our village and assured us that stern action would be taken against the perpetrators, but no action has been taken so far. The FIR report is laid into the heap of papers in the police station. We had also applied for the compassionate employment for the children of the deceased, but the concerned Tehsildar rejected our application and told that in women related cases employment is not provided”. 

Farooq (Sara’s husband) sorrowfully in the mourning state said, “Sara actively participated in all the family activities. She also used to work in the fields to support me because we lived under extreme poverty. Now, not only me but my little children will also feel the void created by her (Sara’s) absence”.

FATHER OF TWO INFANTS DISAPPEARED AFTER ARREST

On 16th February 2006, Nazir Ahmad Deka (35) son of Abdul Rahim Deka, resident of Devsu Deksum, Anantnag was arrested by some unidentified uniformed gunmen from Lal Chowk area of Srinagar, thus adding one more name in the ever growing list of persons subjected to enforced disappearances.

Tasleema, Nazir’s wife approached the office of Public Commission on Human Rights (PCHR) and narrated the tale of her agony.  

“Nazir Ahmad was a hawker by occupation and was selling (Ittar) perfumes and prayer caps at Lal Chowk near the Tyndale Biscoe School, Srinagar. On 16th February, at around 5 pm, some unidentified persons wearing Special Task Force (STF) uniform stopped their gypsy car at the place where Nazir was selling goods. Two persons from the gypsy car came out and told Nazir that their officer is calling him in the gypsy. He refused to accompany them. On Nazir’s refusal, these uniformed persons forcibly took Nazir along with his goods into their vehicle and left the spot”, said Tasleema while talking to The Informative Missive.
“Nisar, nephew of Nazir, who is also a perfume seller at the same place could not do anything for his uncle’s rescue, because he perceived the incident in a casual manner, as police often arrests the hawkers at Lal Chowk for selling their goods on the footpath, however police generally releases them soon after the arrest. Nisar waited up to 7 pm in the evening for the return of his uncle, but as his uncle didn’t return, he (Nisar) then called and informed me about my husband’s arrest”, said Tasleema.

Tasleema with her two children, daughter Muskan (2 ½ years old) and son Umad (5 months) was residing at Habakadal, Srinagar. She then called her in-laws in district Anantnag (58 kilometers from Srinagar) and informed them about Nazir’s arrest. Next day, on 17th February, the parents of Tasleema and Nazir approached the police station Kothi Bagh, Srinagar and enquired about the whereabouts of Nazir. Police expressed their ignorance regarding Nazir’s arrest and only filed a complaint of the parents and on third day of the arrest, 18th February, they lodged an FIR vide number 8/2006.

 
Nazir’s family started searching for him in various directions. They visited many Special Task Force (STF) and army camps in Srinagar as well as in Anantnag but to no avail. After sometime, one of the relatives of Tasleema namely Farooq introduced her to a person called Manzoor who had connections with the police. He offered his help in finding and releasing Nazir in lieu of money. On Manzoor’s demand, Tasleema collected fifteen thousand rupees, which she borrowed from her friend and thirty thousand rupees from her in-laws. A total of forty five thousand rupees were paid to Manzoor for releasing Nazir. However, for the next two months, he kept dodging Tasleema with one or the other pretext. Realizing that she has been duped, finally she visited the office of PCHR. Tasleema further stated that her in-laws are pressurizing her not to lodge any complaint against Manzoor who could harm them.   

The family is in incessant trauma, as they fear that Nazir won’t be alive now.

 
“In starting 90s, Nazir was associated with militancy for some period, but after that he was apprehended from his village Devsu Deksum and was kept in detention for about six months at Joint Interrogation Centre (JIC), STF Headquarters, Anantnag. After that, he completely dissociated himself from the militancy. Fearing further arrest, he left his village and migrated to Srinagar. Then he started to reside as a tenant at Habba Kadal, Srinagar. He was Hafiz-e-Quran (one who memorizes complete Holy Quran) and began teaching Quran to the children and was also an Imam (head priest) in a local mosque. In order to meet the daily requirements of his family, he started to work as a perfume seller at Lal Chowk. Nazir was the only breadwinner for the family. I am worried about my husband and the future of my children. What will happen to my children without their father?” wails Tasleema while caressing her two children.

ARMY EXCESSES ON A VILLAGE DEFENCE COMMITTEE MEMBER

On 13th February 2006, The Informative Missive received a S.O.S call from Surankote, Jammu in which a Village Defence Committee (VDC) member asked for help and protection for his life. He feels threat to his life and for his family members as he alleges that the army is coercing him to work for them and on declining their offer, the army is threatening him. He fears if not protected he would be eliminated.

Fifty-year-old, Abdul Rashid Zargar son of Subal Joo of Shangla presently residing in Surankote was a surrendered militant. He had served the jail for three years under Public Safety Act (PSA) and different FIRs were registered against him.  

Due to threats in 1996, he left his native village and opened a goldsmith shop in Surankote. In year 2000, the army of 6 Sector pressurized him to work for them as an informer. He refused the offer and faced threats from the liaison agency of Brigade Command of 6 Sector (army). They carried raid at his house in which nothing was found against him. He was sent to Joint Interrogation Center where he was detained for 84 days. Just to survive, he joined VDC. He obtained the gun so that he can defend himself. Following the threats and pressures from army, he moved an application before the Munsif Court in Surankote for his protection and Sub Judge, Surankote directed the local police to report the allegation made by applicant. The police station called LU (an army agency where in, army dressed in civvies operate in the area for gathering information regarding the militants) and also took the statement and bio data of Abdul Rashid that was sent to the Brigade Command S.K. Dugal. Abdul Rashid also applied to National Human Rights Commission (NHRC) who had also asked the local police station to inquire into the allegations. The Station House Officer (SHO) informally suggested Abdul Rashid to settle the matter with LU of its own; meaning to follow what he had been told to do. But, in the inquiry report, the SHO had mentioned that Abdul Rashid has no relations with the militants and the report was sent to the court and NHRC. Meanwhile, the Brigade Commander got transferred; however, before his transfer he briefed the new incumbent Mr. Gupta about Abdul Rashid and he called Abdul Rashid again and threatened him, how dare he filed the case against the army? Gupta had told Abdul Rashid that he has worked in Kashmir and Punjab and knows how to deal with militancy. He threatened him that he will get him killed and his entire family. The new incumbent called the Deputy Inspector General (DIG) police to recover the gun from him, which meant that Abdul Rashid would be eliminated any time. On 23rd February 2006, at 8 am, about 80 army personnel came to his home to arrest him. He was taken to camp where he was accused of supporting militancy, which he denied. Though, after four days, he was released in a tortured condition and was directed by the army to report to the army camp in morning and evening time. Notwithstanding, he tried to rescue himself by saying that he is a working VDC and also associated with All Indian Human Rights Association, a Delhi based association headed by M. U. Dua where he had obtained membership cards from them, just for his protection. However, the threats continued. His two sons where also arrested and threats were given to them. “My family has to suffer of no fault of theirs”, according to his statement made to The Informative Missive on telephone while requesting protection for himself and his family members. He had refused to work with army, as he believes working with army is a “dirty work” in which he has to arrest people unnecessary and become part of the excesses being committed upon the civilians. He has been tortured so much that he contemplated to commit suicide many a times but being a Muslim, he cannot, as suicide is forbidden in Islam. Now, he is asking for help and protection. Though, he still retains a weapon (gun) as a VDC member but it is more for his protection, as army wants to eliminate him. Abdul Rashid alleges that the army is pressurizing local police to recover the weapon from him.

VILLAGERS ALLEGE BEATING, MOLESTATION OF WOMEN AND FORCED LABOUR

ARMY SAYS NO ONE WAS BEATEN, MOLESTED OR ARRESTED
Approximately three kilometers, exhausting and backbreaking uphill climb on a rocky track leads to Dudkulian village, Tral that is approximately 40 kilometers away from Srinagar. On 3rd February 2006, a group of soldiers accompanied by three policemen were descending from the village. 

In combat dresses, black hair bands and carrying AK-47 rifles, the soldiers asked a Gujjar youth, who was carrying another teenaged Gujjar boy on his shoulders, to hurry up. The boy who was being carried on the shoulders, had a swollen face, his legs had given up. He had been severely thrashed outside his home in the village on the suspicion of working for militants and now he was being handed over to police. 

Comprising 37 Gujjar households, half of the village population had fled in the morning when the group of soldiers allegedly ran amok and thrashed every dweller except children. According to residents, many women (one of them pregnant) had been allegedly molested. 

Scores of them had fled the village during the army raid and walked to Tral town where they were demonstrating in front of civil and police offices in Tral town against the alleged atrocities of 42 Rashtriya Rifles battalion of army. Army denies the allegations, terming them as baseless. 

 Shakina Bano, 22, alleged that she along with few other women of the village were ‘beaten and molested’ by the troops of 42 Rashtriya Rifles on 3rd February morning. 

“Army came to our house at 5 am and arrested several villagers. My brother Gulzar Gujjar was also arrested and beaten ruthlessly. A trooper pushed me to the wall and beat me like a beast”, alleged Shakina, who was accompanied by two other girls of the village at district hospital Pulwama. 

“I somehow fled from the clutches of troopers and saved my honor. Had I not shown the courage they would have raped me”, Shakina alleged. 

“If they are looking for militants let they find them; why are they victimizing us”, she said. 

Women who alleged that they were beaten and molested by the troops are Fatima wife of (w/o) Muhammad Shafi Khan, Zaitoon w/o Bashir Ahmad Khan, Sakina w/o Hanief Khan, Sakina w/o Gulzar Khan, Saira w/o Muhammad Shafi Khan, and Hajra w/o Muhammad Shafi Khan. 

Suleiman, a handicapped middle-aged Gujjar, was sitting outside his ransacked house. Troops had dug out a floor of one of the rooms of his house. Men were filling it with stones again. He was hysterical with anger because his wounded son Shabir had been taken away. “You might have seen what they did to my son. You saw another man was carrying him on the shoulders; he couldn’t even walk; you can’t imagine how they beat him up; they brutalized every man of the village for the sin of not knowing where militants are hiding. They found nothing here. My wife fainted and I have no information about her”, expressed Suleiman. 

He said, “As a routine they ordered all the men to be present at the army camp a few days back. We thought it was a call for forced labor to which we are routinely subjected. However, they freed all the men except Bashir, a mentally challenged person. This morning they brought him to the village expecting he would show them where militants had dumped weapons. It is nonsense; what do you expect a naïve person to do when he is detained in a garrison”. 

The villagers said the raiding party found no weapons in the village. “I told them if he (Shabir) is guilty, punish him legally but don’t beat him savagely. If police hadn’t come at appropriate time they would have killed us in a fake gunfight and dubbed us as militants”, told Suleiman. 

Suleiman’s wife, Reshma Begum, 55, sitting outside District Hospital, Tral said, “When army started torturing my son Shabir in front of me, I couldn’t bear the trauma and fell un-conscious. I was brought to the hospital by villagers”. 

“They (army) came to our house and went on rampage. My son was taken to the lawn and tortured to an extent that blood oozed from his mouth. When I rushed to save my son, I was beaten by gun butts”, Reshma alleged. 

Showing her injury marks Reshma said, “I am concerned about the fate of my innocent son. For God’s sake please save my son, they will kill him”. 

Ali Gujjar, 60, was worried about his son Gulzar because troops had snatched his identity card and asked him to bring his brother, Rashid, 26, along with him to the army camp. “This means trouble; snatching I-cards (identity cards) and making us hostage is their favorite method because they know we can’t move around without an I-card. How can I go to any civil officer or politician and complain because on approaching them, I would be searched everywhere and they would ask for I-card”, Gulzar said. 

Ali said his son Rashid, sought by army was released after one and a half years of detention in November last year. “Now they don’t want to let him live a normal life,” he said. Rashid was returning home in the evening from the house of his in-laws where his wife is staying these days. Unaware of the day’s turbulent happenings, Rashid wonders, “Why do they want me now”? 

“They accuse us of feeding militants; we are starving and you won’t find a single household which has five kilograms of grains in store to supplement their family itself”, said Nurya Gujjar. 

The villagers said for the past five days they have been made to cut and haul firewood to the 42 RR camp. The protesters who were demonstrating in front of Tehsildar Tral’s office voiced similar complaint. They said the Gujjar men and even schoolchildren of Kahlil, Nagbal, Zoreryar, Shajan, Nagpathri areas were forced to carry firewood to the camp continuously for the past three days. They said forced labor was common during winters every year. 

Amin Gujjar, 45, father of six girls of Nagbal had arrived from Pulwama after meeting Deputy Commissioner with a plea  “come to my rescue”. He said, “The major of the army camp asked me to come for a cup of tea on January 26 but I couldn’t go because my child fell ill and I had to take her to a doctor. They had come for me again on Jan 27 and I went to the camp on January 28. The Major asked me to come again. When he told me not to tell anybody even my wife that I have been called to the camp, I became suspicious and yesterday, I went to see Deputy Commissioner. He referred me to Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP), Awantipora who in turn has given me this piece of paper and advised me to meet Station House Officer (SHO), Tral”. On a yellow piece of paper, the SSP had written, “May please take care of the individual”. 

SHO Tral Muhammad Yousuf said, “Protesters allege that they have been beaten up. Police team has been sent to the area and we are investigating. Four ladies have come to us and their statement has been registered”. 

SHO denied that any one has come up with the compliant of rape or molestation. “There is no such report with us. Medical examination of four ladies has been done and it says there is no visible injury”. 

However, SHO said medical report confirms that ladies are facing pain in legs and other parts of body. 

Tehsildar Tral Gharib Singh said, “Law will take its own course. Investigation is on but it is clear that there is no rape. I have talked to Deputy Commissioner and he may come here to investigate the matter”. 

Block Medical Officer Tral said, “Police brought six ladies and two males to our hospital who had some minor injuries. They were later discharged after first aid”. 

 
Meanwhile, hundreds of people protested against the army atrocities outside tehsildar Tral’s office. Shouting slogans “We want freedom”, the protesters alleged that army has made their lives hell. 

Public Relations Officer (PRO) Defence, Lt. Colonel V.K. Batra said, “to implicate army, this has become a trend. We got information from our source that there is a hideout in the village and some weapons are there. Our search party took two local boys for help to identify the house. Villagers thought they had been arrested and raised hue and cry. Both the boys were released in the evening in presence of police”. 

 
PRO said, somebody had instigated the villagers and it is to malign the image of army. “No women was touched or beaten by the troops”, PRO asserted.

RASHTRIYA RIFLES BEAT A STUDENT IN BARAMULLA

On 2nd February 2006, residents of Nadihal village of Baramulla demonstrated in Baramulla town against army atrocities on a 10th class student. The residents alleged that army is compelling a student of 10th standard to work for them as an informer and when he declined, he was severely beaten twice in the past 10 days.

The protesters said that at 9 am on February 2, a team of soldiers from 32 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) stationed at Tragpora camp entered the house of Taja Begum, 55, a widow and asked for her son Hilal Ahmed Wani son of Late Abdul Qadoos Wani of Nadihal, Baramulla.

 
Hilal, a class 10th student, was severely beaten by the soldiers. He sustained head injury and was brought to District Hospital, Baramulla for treatment. A few hundred villagers carried injured Hilal on the hospital bed and placed it on the road at Baramulla Chowk. Blocking traffic, the villagers shouted slogans against army and demanded freedom from “Indian occupation”.

Hilal, the victimized student told, “They are constantly asking me to work as an informer for them. Shall I give up my studies and do the dirty work for them”.

Showing a fractured arm Hilal said, “Ten days ago, army thrashed me and this broken arm is a proof of that. The fracture hasn’t healed yet and they again came this morning and again reiterated their proposal”.

 
Taja Begum, mother of Hilal said, “I am working very hard to run my family and provide education to Hilal but they (army) won’t let me”.

 
Deputy Inspector General (DIG) of police for Baramulla, Muhammad Subhan Lone said police has received complaint and was verifying the facts.

 
The Commanding Officer of 32 Rashtriya Rifles (RR), E. P. Singh refuted the accusations of people. He said, “During search of the house, a television set fell on the head of Hilal Wani and he was injured. We are not forcing him to work for us and in the past he had links with militants. In fact, army is treating his wounds at the camp”.

 
Meanwhile, shops and other business establishments in the area remained closed on 2nd February in protest against the alleged excesses of the RR. 

BILAL SIDIQUEE SENT TO JAIL AGAIN

HE HAS ALREADY SERVED 9-YEARS IN DETENTION
Srinagar, February 8: In the continuing arrest drive in which several hundred people have been held in the past three months, the Deputy Commissioner (DC), Srinagar Asgar Samoon has ordered the detention of Bilal Ahmad Sidiquee, a pro-freedom activist, under the Public Safety Act (PSA) at Jammu’s Kot Bhalwal jail. 

 
Sidiquee was released from jail only two months back after serving nine years in New Delhi’s Tihar jail. 

The order reads “I District Magistrate, Srinagar am satisfied on the basis of records provided by Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP), Srinagar that with a view to prevent Bilal Ahmad Sidiquee from acting in any manner prejudicial to the maintenance of the security of the state it is necessary to do so”. 
 
Explaining the “grounds of detention”, the DC’s order says that the “SSP’s record reveals that you are a known secessionist and one of the prominent Pakistan trained militants who has been responsible for spreading terrorism in the state. You are considered one of the founding members of Hizbul Mujahideen (HM) outfit, the largest network operating in the state and a known supporter of pro-Pak ideology that advocates use of gun to secede Jammu and Kashmir from Union of India and to merge it with Pakistan”.


Stating that Sidiquee is among the first batch of pro-freedom youth to cross the LoC in late 80’s who connived with “their masters sitting across the border to spread terrorism in the state”, the order notes that Sidiquee infiltrated into the valley in April 1988 and “didn’t resort to terrorist activities instantly because number of Pakistan trained militants was very less and it was planned not to get exposed till substantial number of youth return to valley after obtaining arms training”. 

 
Sidiquee was arrested in September 1988, detained under PSA, and released in April 1991. “During that time, HM became one of the largest militant group and you were considered one of its founding members. You were a close associate of Muhammad Ahsan Dar, then chief commander of HM”. 

 
The order says that when HM split in 1992; Sidiquee sided with Ahsan Dar and launched a new militant outfit Muslim Mujahideen. “For getting the blessings of your masters across, you and Ahsan Dar went to Pakistan Occupied Kashmir (POK) till August 1994”, the order notes. 

 
The order accuses Sidiquee of developing close ties with ISI during his stay in Pakistan and deciding to carry out its plans regarding subversive activities in the state. “Most of the secrets had been shared with you,” the order says. The order said that in August 1994, Sidiquee returned to the valley and “executed a number of subversive and terrorist activities”.

 
The order says, “In April 1995 you were again called by ISI and you left via Nepal. Since you were very close to Pakistani ISI, some new strategy was to be discussed with you in view of changing circumstances in the valley. Since counter insurgent groups had emerged in valley and were posing threat to terrorists, you were called by ISI to formulate strategies to neutralize such elements. You infiltrated back to India in October 1996 and were arrested in Vasant Vihar and a criminal case was registered against you in Police Station Jehangirpuri. You were convicted and sentenced to ten years imprisonment by Delhi Court and lodged in Tihar Jail Delhi to serve the sentence that expired on 9-8-2005”. 

 
The order further says that Sidiquee is facing trial in a case lodged in M. R. Gunj police station under provisions of TADA act in which he was bailed out on 5-10-2005. 

“Whereas, you have been released recently on 30-11-2005 but in this short period also three adverse diaries have been received from intelligence agencies which reveal you have already met a number of secessionists to chalk out new strategies to give impetus to the ongoing militancy”, the order said. 

CONDITION OF KASHMIRI DETAINEES WORRYING: KASHMIR BAR ASSOCIATION

Srinagar, February 18: Kashmir Bar Association (KBA) has said that the condition of detainees languishing in different Indian jails was “worse than Abu Gharib prison in Iraq”.

“The methods and manners in which detainees are being treated in interrogation centers are horrible. You will forget Abu Gharib after listening to the horrific tales of Kashmiri detainees in these jails”, said Mian Qayoom, President - Kashmir Bar Association. On 18th of January, a team of the Kashmir Bar Association visited Tihar jail and Jammu jail to know the conditions of the under trial prisoners and detenues of J&K State.

“Prisoners are being forced to lick pig meat and pig mouth. Electric shocks are being given to their bodies, including private parts”, Qayoom said.

Narrating the plight of Muhammad Hussain Fazili, who is lodged in jail No. 1 of Tihar jail, Qayoom said, he was arrested in Srinagar on November 5, 2005 and taken to Air Cargo interrogation center at Lodhi Colony and severely tortured.

Mian Qayoom said that Muhammad Husain told the visiting Bar Association team that, “In Lodhi Colony interrogation center, the daily torture included drinking of urine and eating each other‘s shit. The police officials used to get pig meat and forced us to lick it. They would force us to put our mouth in each other’s private parts. They paraded us naked several times and took our photographs. When torture didn’t yield any result, they forced us to sign some 30-40 blank papers and finally, I landed in Tihar jail on December 30, 2005”.

In jail No. 2 of Tihar, the Bar team met Muhammad Afzal Guroo who has been sentenced to death in Parliament attack case.

“Guroo told us that he is worried about the plight of the detainees and under trails lodged in different jails at Delhi as they are not being provided proper legal assistance”, Qayoom told.

The other detainees whom bar members met in jail No. 1 of Tihar are: Hurriyat Conference leader Sheikh Abdul Aziz, Feroz Ahmad of Tral, Muhammad Aslam Wani of Hawal, Srinagar, Zaffar Umar Khan of Mendhar Poonch, Ghulam Nabi Najar of Tangmarg, Muhammad Amin Khan of Soura, Wasim of Nawab Bazar, Srinagar and Altaf Hussain Wani of HMT, Srinagar.

In jail number 2 of Tihar, the Bar team met Gulzar Ahmad Wani of Pattan, Ghulam Mohi-ud-Din Shah of Sopore, Abdul Gafoor of Karnah, Ali Muhammad of Budgam, Muhammad Afzal of Anantnag and Ghulam Qadir of Doru.

In jail number 4 of Tihar, the Bar team met Ghulam Muhammad Dar of Srinagar, Umar Rahim of Gupkar, Srinagar, Tahir Lone of Karan Nagar, Srinagar, Shafat Khan of Bemina, Srinagar, Ashaq Khan of Bemina, Srinagar, Ashaq Sarver of Habak, Srinagar, Abdul Majid Bhat of Pulwama, Shahzad Ahmad of Rajouri, Altaf Hussain of Poonch, Muhammad Aftab of Mendhar Poonch, Ranjit Singh of Ramban, Soom Nath of Jammu, Uttam Singh of Jammu, Nazir Ahmed and Saqib Ahmad of Srinagar.

Quoting Zamrooda Habib, a Kashmir woman detained in jail number 6 of Tihar who is lodged there for the last three years, the Bar President said she told them, “I am ailing and jail authorities have given no medical treatment to me. I have been kept with two women jailed for crime related activities”. 

The Bar Association has highlighted the miseries of the prisoners to see that the authorities concerned will take appropriate action in the matter, to redress their grievances.

HIGH COURT TO GOVERNMENT: TAKE STATE HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION (SHRC) SERIOUSLY

Jammu, February 17: State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) has received a shot in the arm as High Court has asked the government to consider seriously the recommendations of the SHRC for an appropriate action.

The court observed that by honoring recommendations of SHRC, the state would be acting “towards observance of the constitutional principle”.

The single bench of Justice Bashir Kirmani announced the judgment on a petition filed by a man, whose only son has been subjected to custodial disappearance.

The man had filed a complaint with SHRC stating that vehicle borne personnel’s lifted his 17- year old son in June 1995 and later his whereabouts were not known.

The SHRC disposed off the case on 28th December 2004, recommending Rs. 1 lac as ex-gratia to the man and asked the government to appoint one of his family members under SRO 43 of 1994.

However, the government did not honour the recommendations, prompting the petitioner to move to the High Court.

The petitioner’s counsel Advocate F.A. Bhat described the non-implementation of the recommendation as “Violation of petitioner’s statutory rights and bad in law”.

However, the respondent state through Additional Advocate General M.A. Rathore contended that in view of its peculiar nature, “ the petition was not maintainable” and relief prayed for petition was not been allowed to the petitioner as the recommendations of SHRC were already pending with the matter.

“I have heard the case and considered the matter; petitioner’s whole case rests on two things. First, his son’s disappearance which is not expressly denied by the other side and recommendations made by the Commission”, observed Justice B.A. Kirmani.

“The recommendations of the Commission are only persuasive in nature and as such the government is not, in strict sense, always obliged to implement the recommendation”, Court said.

However, the Court observed that “Taken objectively the recommendations made as such are not totally forceless also because the proceedings of SHRC and outcome thereof cannot be an idle formality”.

The court observed: “As a matter of fact once the government establishes such a commission and vests it with a power to suitable recommendation, it binds itself statutorily and if one may say morally to respect the recommendation unless they are impracticable or their acceptance is not advisable due to some well founded substantial reason”.

About the petitioner’s plea, the court observed that it deserves compassion. It said disappearance of his only son must have shattered the peace of his family including   his mother and three young sisters. “The petitioner’s old eyes must have almost lost their sight, weeping and waiting for return of disappeared son. And the same must be true about his mother and sisters. This aspect of life strongly recommends itself for serious consideration to provide some substantial relief to the petitioner’s family”, the court observed.

The court disposed off the petition with observation to consider seriously recommendations of the SHRC and take appropriate action. By doing so, the state,” according to the court, would only be acting towards observance of the constitutional principle of providing some means of livelihood to its subjects”.

TROOPS OCCUPY HOUSE IN BANDIPORA, INMATES ON ROADS

February 15: Tears rolled down the eyes of Muhammad Naseer Khan while narrating the tale as how the troops vacated him and his family from their residence in Arigam, Bandipora (60 kilometers away from Srinagar). Naseer (19), laborer by profession who heads a poor family of four including a widow mother.  “The troops of 14 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) many a times barged into my house during the daytime and in evenings and ordered my family to vacate the house immediately”, told visibly perturbed Naseer.

The troops according to him “threatened inmates of dire consequences”, if they didn’t move out of the house and make space for them. “The troops threatened to bulldoze our house if we didn’t obey their orders”, said Naseer.

Troops on February 15 forced their entry into the single storey house, thrashed the inmates and threw the household goods out.

“My family including my mother pleaded repeatedly the soldiers to discontinue the act and leave the house”, Naseer said, adding, “Troops, however went on a rampage and threw the household items out of the house and forcibly occupied it”.

According to Naseer, he then approached the senior police officials and government functionaries regarding the evacuation but to no avail.

“I approached the concerned police station and tehsildar seeking help from them, but they expressed helplessness saying that they can’t do anything in the matter”, told Naseer.

The displaced family is living with the neighbours. “We have kept the goods in neighbor’s house and are presently residing there”, Naseer adds further.

Defence spokesman Lt. Col. Batra told, “We have received the complaint and are verifying the facts. If it is true, action will be taken to restore the house to the family”.

SITUATION IMPROVES, TROOPS BEING WITHDRAWN: PRANAB MUKHERJEE

New Delhi, February 6: An army brigade was being withdrawn from Jammu and Kashmir following “improvement in situation’’ there, Defence Minister Pranab Mukherjee said. 

Defence Minister told that a brigade withdrawn from Jammu and Kashmir would be re-deployed in the Northeast — where a number of separatist insurgencies still exist. 

Pointing out that redeployment was “a routine exercise’’ undertaken after review of the situation in the Northern state, Minister Mukherjee said last year the troops were withdrawn voluntarily. 

Earlier in the day, a Government official — on condition of anonymity — had said that as many as 15,000 troops were to be withdrawn from Jammu and Kashmir in a phased manner. Later, army officials said a brigade of 3000 troops would be moved from the valley soon. 

Meanwhile, army Chief General J.J. Singh said the brigade to be redeployed in the northeast had ‘’already been withdrawn from Jammu and Kashmir’’. 


The brigade was posted south of the Pir Panjal mountain range and now would be redeployed at Darjeeling and Kalimpong in the Himalayan belt in West Bengal, he said. 

“Subject to improvement of situation in the state, there could be a further possibility of troop withdrawal from Jammu and Kashmir”, he added. 

 
Earlier, on January 13 at a Press Conference ahead of Army Day, General Singh had ruled out any reduction in troop-levels in Jammu and Kashmir in view of fact that terrorists were still active in the region and the infrastructure to support their subversive activities was still intact across the border. Presently, almost 5,00,000 troops are deployed in Jammu and Kashmir engaged in counter-insurgency operations.  

GOVERNMENT GETS NOTICE IN CUSTODIAL DEATH CASE

Srinagar, February 7: It has been a 14 yearlong wait for a mother to see the killers of her son behind bars. She knocked at all the doors for justice. Finally, High Court has come to her rescue. 

 
The Court issued a show cause notice to government for failing to produce challan against army in the custodial murder of Nazir Ahmed Khan of Bandipora. 

In the writ petition filed in High Court in 1994, Zaitoon Begum, wife of Muhammad Abdullah of Gagarpathi, Bandipora had alleged that R.D. Singh and R.P. Singh of Army’s Grenadiers regiment killed her son (Nazir) in custody on January 26, 1992. 

Acting on the petition, the court appointed Additional District and Sessions Judge as an Inquiry Officer for investigating the matter. After investigation, the officer confirmed that Khan was killed in custody and directed Superintendent of Police, Baramulla to register a case against the accused army officers. 

 
Police registered a case of murder under FIR no. 114/1992. However, the challan against the accused was not been produced. In the meantime, Zaitoon Begum filed another petition demanding action against the accused. 

Hearing the arguments of counsels of both parties, Justice Nisar Ahmed Kakroo issued a show cause notice against the state government asking it to explain why challan was not produced against the accused army officers.
AGED MOTHER SEEKS HER SON’S RELEASE

‘Government gunmen’ allegedly kidnapped Abdul Rashid Bujad, 28, on December 26 2005 from Bandipora, Handwara. Rashid is the only breadwinner of the family, which consists of his widow mother, three sisters and a younger brother. 

 His widow mother Bibi had filed a case against the kidnappers in police station Handwara on December 31, but she says police is reluctant to take any action against the culprits. 

 
“My son was kidnapped by Bashir Khatana and Irshad Khatana before my eyes. Both of them work for security agencies. Even after one and a half month, nothing has happened, police is intentionally taking no action against them”, told Bibi.

 
“When I first went to police on December 31, they told me that once snow will be cleared from the roads, they will start searching for my son. When I have identified the kidnappers, why isn’t police taking action against them? They are roaming and police can arrest them anytime if they wish”, Bibi said. 

 
“We have no source of income. For God’s sake, please bring my son back”, Bibi pleaded with tears rolling down her cheeks. 

 
Superintendent Police (SP) Handwara, Nitish Kumar denied that any person working with police has kidnapped Bashir. 

 
“Bashir was working as an over-ground worker for militants and due to personal rivalry he was kidnapped by them. Two persons identified by Rashid’s mother haven’t kidnapped him”, Nitish said. 

 
However, Nitish said that investigation is on and whosoever has committed the act will be brought to the book.

MUSLIM FAMILIES FORCED OUT AFTER THEY RECEIVED DEATH THREATS FROM MILITANTS

February 23: Eight Muslim families comprising 22 members, including children, have chosen to migrate out of village in Doda district following death threats by militants.

The families moved out of Charali Chabba village and had taken shelter in a government school along the Jammu-Srinagar national highway in Ramban area of Doda for the past few days, officials said on February 23.

They started receiving death threats from Hizbul Mujahideen militants since January 15 after someone provided information to the security forces, which lead in the killing of a Hizb man, they (officials) said.

“Hizb militants have threatened to eliminate all the members of our families, one by one, to avenge the killing to their associate Ahmed”, said Bashir Ahmed, who is the head of one of the families.

“Last year August, militants killed my father Mohammed Ismail and his cousin Syed–ul-lah as they were opposing them. That, in itself was a setback, but when it came to the lives of our children, we made up our minds to migrate”, said Bashir.  Bashir’s brother, Mohammed Qasim said a few days back; four local Hizb cadres entered their hamlet in the night and warned that they would wipe out all eight families. “They even fired some bullets in air to scare us after which we migrated from the area leaving our belongings behind”.

The elders of the families met police at Ramban and sought help in providing security in their village. Deputy Commissioner Doda - Gulzar Ahmed Qureshi confirmed that some families had migrated, adding he had issued orders for sanitization of the area.

He also confirmed that the head of one of the families received a death threat from Hizb militants after providing information to the security forces.

“There might be some threat perception which forced them to migrate. I have also sought detailed information in this regard from the different agencies”, Qureshi said.
FIR AGAINST CENTRAL RESERVE PARAMILITARY FORCE (CRPF) FOR MAISUMA EXCESSES

Srinagar, February 10: Jammu and Kashmir police has registered a case against the Central Reserve Paramilitary Force (CRPF) following complaints of alleged atrocities by the forces on the residents of Maisuma area of Srinagar.

Residents of Maisuma had staged a protest demonstration against the alleged atrocities being committed by the CRPF personnel in the area.

The trouble erupted after personnel of the CRPF’s 131 battalion had allegedly beaten a 12th class student, identified as Mohsin Hakeem, without any provocation.

Hakeem was dragged inside the bunker and beaten up. As soon as the news spread regarding thrashing of Hakeem, residents took to roads and pelted stones on the vehicles and staged a demonstration in front of the CRPF bunker.

The demonstrator alleged that the CRPF personnel deployed near the Akhada building in Maisuma area have made “their life miserable”.

“They subject us to unwanted harassment without any reason… it has become a routine. The CRPF personnel have unleashed a reign of terror in the entire area. We are feeling insecure, besides our business is also suffering“, a resident said.

The protesters also demanded that the CRPF bunker be removed from the Akhada building and an FIR be registered against the errant personnel.

Police later registered the FIR and assured the agitators that the law would take its own course.

However, CRPF has denied that their personnel had beaten up the youth or unleashed a “reign of terror” in the area.

“The allegations about atrocities being committed on the residents are baseless”, CRPF said.
SUICIDE BY TROOPS 

· CRPF MAN ENDS LIFE IN JAMMU
Srinagar, February 8: A soldier of CRPF committed suicide at Sidhra, Jammu on Tuesday, February 7. The soldier Mukhtar Singh of CRPF’s 26 battalion ended his life by firing upon himself by his service rifle. He took the extreme step for not getting leave. 

· JAWAN MADE SUICIDE BID

Jammu, February 4: BSF jawan Rajveer Singh, son of Rajinder Singh of Amritsar, at present in transit camp BSF, Narwal consumed poisonous substance in the camp.

· RR PERSONNEL COMMITS SUICIDE 
Srinagar, February 26: A soldier of 28 Rashtriya Rifles Shamsher Singh, who was on duty at Batwara, Srinagar committed suicide with his own service rifle. He was referred to hospital in a critical condition where he succumbed to his injures. A case has been registered in this regard in police station Ram Munshi Bagh, Srinagar.

STATEMENTS

· 818 SOLDIERS KILLED IN JK

New Delhi, February 22: A total of 818 soldiers were killed in Jammu and Kashmir and the Northeast during the last four years, Minister of State for Defense M.M. Pallam Raju said in the Rajya Sabha on February 22.

Of these, the highest number of 254 was killed in 2002 followed by 241 in 2003, 187 in 2004 and the lowest 136 in 2005.

· INFILTRATION CONSISTENTLY DECREASING: HOME MINISTER
New Delhi, February 8: Home Minister Shivraj Patil said that the number of infiltrations in Jammu and Kashmir has been consistently decreasing since 2001. 

Presiding over a meeting of the consultative committee of the home ministry on “Border Management” on Wednesday, Patil informed the members about the decline in infiltration. 

Taking part in the deliberations, members mostly parliamentarians, expressed happiness over the fact that fencing on the western border has significantly contributed to reduction in infiltration from across the border, an official statement said.

· DETENTION CASES TO BE EXAMINED

 Prime Minister (PM) Manmohan Singh on February 25 directed the Home Ministry to constitute before end of March 2006, a high level committee to examine all current detention cases in Jammu and Kashmir.

“ I am requesting the Home Ministry to form a high-level group of officials… it must see whether it is possible to release all detainees against whom there are no serious cases“, PM said in his concluding remarks at the first-ever roundtable Kashmir conclave held in New Delhi.

PM said “problem of detention” under various acts was certainly an issue of concern.

Later, Home Secretary V.K. Duggal told that about 44 prisoners had been released in October 2005.

NEWS IN BRIEF

· TREHGAM PROTESTS ABDUCTION 

Srinagar, February 5: Trehgam villagers today staged protest demonstrations against the kidnapping of a woman allegedly by cops in the area. Police has filed a case against the accused. 

Residents allege that constable Muhammad Maqbool belt No 139B of Trehgam kidnapped his former wife Hanifa from her paternal home. 

Maqbool kidnapped the mother of three kids when he learnt that she had filed a case of compensation.

After divorcing Hanifa, Maqbool had married another woman, but some years later Maqbool divorced her as well. Now, he was intending to go for the third one (marriage). 

The abduction triggered protests in the area with people taking to streets and staging protests against Maqbool and other cops involved in the abduction. 

Police has filed a case against Maqbool. However, he is yet to be arrested and woman is still missing.
· STATE MINORITY COMMISSION TO BE SET UP IN JK

New Delhi, February 6:  National Commission for Minorities (NCM) Chairman Tarlochan Singh said that a State Minority Commission would soon be set up in Jammu and Kashmir.

“The long-standing proposal to set up the State Minority Commission in Jammu and Kashmir has been accepted in principal by Jammu and Kashmir Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad”, said Singh. 

He said the state needs the minority commission to ensure the rights of the minorities due to prevailing situation in the insurgency-torn state. 

Singh said he received a communication from Azad saying instructions had been issued to authorities concerned to prepare a proposal in this regard. 

Welcoming the move, the NCM Chairman said that the demand of minorities in the state to be recognized would now be fulfilled. 

 
In 1982, Farooq Abdullah-led National Conference Government had adopted a Bill in the state legislature under which a minority commission was to be set up. 

The government headed by G. M. Shah in 1984-85 repealed the Bill. Since then, there has been no move to readopt the Bill regarding the setting up of the minority commission.

· STATION HOUSE OFFICER (SHO) HANDWARA SUSPENDED FOR MISBEHAVIOR

Handwara, February 16: Station House Officer (SHO) Handwara has been suspended on charges of misbehaving with District Magistrate (DM) Kupwara. Authorities have ordered an inquiry against the accused SHO.

The suspension was ordered following an altercation between the duos on February 13 over the issue of release of an arrested local person.

One Tahir Ahmed son of Ghulam Mohuiddin Mir was arrested by troops 10 day ago. The accused was booked under section 212, a bailable offence.

Tahir’s father pleaded before the DM that his son was an innocent shopkeeper and demanded his release.

The DM later asked the SHO to release Tahir. However, the SHO denied complying with the orders saying that army had asked him not to release Tahir at any cost.

SHO is said to have shouted back at the DM in presence of Superintendent of Police (SP) Handwara, Nitish Kumar.

Next day, the DM asked the SP to initiate an inquiry into the matter who in turn ordered suspension of the SHO. 

“I have suspended him and a departmental inquiry has been started”, SP Handwara confirmed. 

· TROOPS THRASH INJURED SHOPKEEPER

Sopore, February 18: Border Security Force (BSF) troopers ruthlessly thrashed Farooq Ahmad Gadoo, a shopkeeper after a grenade blast outside State Bank of India branch on February 17.

Farooq had received splinter injuries in the attack and the troopers did not allow anybody to move him to the hospital.

 
Later, a police party led by Station House Officer (SHO) Sopore on reaching the spot had a verbal brawl with BSF men as they refused to allow police to shift Farooq to hospital. Police managed to take him to district hospital where from they shifted him in critical condition to Srinagar in police vehicle. 

Meanwhile, a complete shut down was observed in Sopore town against the incident. BSF had accused Farooq of throwing a grenade on them.

· KUPWARA STUDENT AND ONE PERFUME SELLER GONE MISSING

Feroze Ahmad Mir (16) son of Abdul Gani Mir of Machhil Dabal, Kupwara, a class 10th student went missing from February 12. Feroze was the only son of his parents. The family is concerned over the disappearance. Police has registered a case.

Meanwhile, Nazir Ahmad Deka of Devsu, Kokernag has gone missing after the troops detained him at Lal Chowk on February 16. Nazir Ahmad was selling perfumes, attars on a makeshift shop. The family has registered a complaint in the Kothi Bagh Police station.

· TROOPS BEAT PEOPLE’S DEMOCRATIC PARTY (PDP) ACTIVIST IN BANDIPORA

Baramulla, February 19: On 19th February 2006, troops of Rashtriya Rifles (RR), allegedly thrashed a senior activist of PDP triggering anti-army protests in Bandipora, district Baramulla.

Witnesses said troops of 13 RR barged into a mosque at Safapora, Bandipora and subjected the people offering prayers to identification parade. When the block president of PDP objected, he was also severely thrashed.

Soon, after the incident hundreds of people took to streets and staged demonstrations against the army.

· PROTEST AGAINST ATROCITIES

Baramulla, February 20: Hundreds of people from Bandipora, district Baramulla protested outside Deputy Commissioner, Baramulla’s office on February 20 against alleged atrocities by the troops of Rashtriya Rifles (army).

The protesters alleged that army was harassing them on pretext of helping militants. They threatened migration from the area if the atrocities continue.

· ARREST OF MAN LEADS TO BSF-POLICE CLASH

Sopore, February 22: Arrest of a civilian triggered a clash between paramilitary Border Security Force (BSF) troops and police in Sopore, Baramulla on February 22.

Witnesses said the BSF troops of 133rd battalion arrested a man from a matador and took him to the nearby camp for questioning. When an on-duty police constable tried to intervene, he was forcibly taken inside the camp where he was kept in custody for two hours.

Later, senior police officials rushed to the spot and the cop was released. This is the second instance of an altercation between BSF and police. Last time, the BSF had refused to allow an injured person to be taken to hospital and the SHO Sopore had a verbal brawl with the BSF on the issue.
· TWO MILITANTS HELD IN DELHI

Two alleged Lashkar – e- Toiba militants were arrested from the New Delhi Railway Station on Feb 27 evening along with a substantial amount of explosives and arms police.

The sleuths of the Special Cell from the New Delhi Railway Station, following Intelligence reports, nabbed Shamil and Shahin, DCP (Special Cell) Ajay Kumar said.
	Date
	Soldiers
	Militants
	Civilians
	Others

	Feb 1
	-
	1
	1
	-

	Feb 2
	-
	2
	-
	-

	Feb 3
	-
	2
	-
	-

	Feb 4
	-
	3
	-
	-

	Feb 5
	-
	4
	-
	-

	Feb 6
	-
	4
	-
	-

	Feb 7
	1
	-
	-
	-

	Feb 8
	1
	-
	-
	-

	Feb 9
	1
	-
	-
	-

	Feb10
	1
	-
	1
	-

	Feb 11
	2
	-
	2
	-

	Feb 12
	2
	3
	-
	-

	Feb 13
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Feb 14
	-
	3
	-
	-

	Feb 15
	-
	3
	-
	-

	Feb 16
	1
	-
	-
	-

	Feb 17 
	-
	2
	-
	-

	Feb 18
	1
	1
	-
	-

	Feb 19
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Feb 20
	-
	2
	-
	-

	Feb 21
	-
	2
	-
	-

	Feb 22
	-
	4
	-
	-

	Feb 23
	1
	7
	5
	-

	Feb 24
	-
	3
	5
	-

	Feb 25
	1
	3
	-
	-

	Feb 26
	1
	3
	-
	-

	Feb 27
	1
	4
	-
	-

	Feb 28
	-
	4
	-
	-

	Total 
	14
	61
	14
	0



CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS FEBRUARY 2006

	Date
	Custodial & Extra Judicial killings
	Women 
	Children
	Alleged Disappearances

	Feb 10
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Feb 12
	-
	-
	-
	1

	Feb 16
	-
	-
	-
	1

	Feb 22
	4
	-
	2
	-

	Feb 23
	-
	1
	3
	-

	Feb 24
	-
	1
	2
	-

	Total
	4
	3
	7
	2



	Feb1
	1 civilian and 1 militant were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb2
	2 HM militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb3
	2 militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb4
	3 militants including 1 LeT militant were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb5
	4 militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb6
	4 militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb7
	1 policeman shot dead by suspected militants at Tral in Pulwama district.  

	Feb8
	1 army man was killed in a violence related incident in the valley.

	Feb9
	1 Special Police Officer (SPO) was killed in violence related incident in the state. 

	Feb10
	1 SPO and 1 woman were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb11
	2 SPO and 2 civilians were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb12
	3 militants and 2 army men were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb13
	1 militant was killed in violence related incident in the valley.

	Feb14
	3 LeT militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb15
	3 LeT militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb16
	1 BSF jawan was killed in violence related incident in the valley.

	Feb17
	2 Al-Badr militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb18
	1 SPO and 1 militant were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb19
	2 militants and 1 civilian were killed in incidents of violence in the state. 

	Feb20
	2 militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb21
	2 militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb22
	 4 civilians including 2 children were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb23
	2 minors, 3 civilians including 1 woman (Shabnum W/o Ali Muhammad Matta R/o Baramulla), 7 militants including 2 HM militants and 1 constable were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb24
	3 minors, 2 civilians including 1 woman (Sara Begum of Bandipora), 3 militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb25
	3 HM militants, 1 army man were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb26
	1-army man and 3 militants were killed in various incidents of violence in the state. 

	Feb27
	4 militants and 1 army man got killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Feb28
	4 militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.





February 23: Jammu & Kashmir Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad ordered a judicial inquiry into the incident to ascertain the circumstances that led to the killing of four young boys.


 











The statement was totally baseless and absurd and was just to hush up the matter. The statement was also intended to turn away the attention of the people from the atrocities of the Indian forces.


�






On 8th February 2004, five residents of the village were allegedly killed as human shields. The persons were taken out forcibly from their houses and were used as shields by the army at an encounter site in the area.


�






CM FOR JOINT INTERROGATION OF SUSPECTS


Jammu, February 16: Jammu and Kashmir Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad has asked for conducting interrogation of suspected militants jointly by state Criminal Investigation Department (CID) and army. 


 	According to an official spokesman, Azad raised the issue during a meeting with Chief of Army Staff General J.J. Singh who called on him. 


 	“General Singh informed the Chief Minister that instructions have been passed on for joint interrogation to be held of suspected militants. Directions have also been passed on to avoid harassment and inconvenience to the innocent civilians while combating militancy,” the spokesman added. 


 	Chief Secretary Vijay Bakaya, Financial Commissioner Home S.B. Mathur, Director General of Police Gopal Sharma, Principal Secretary to Chief Minister Anil Goswami, GOC-in-C Northern Command Lt. Gen. Deepak Kapoor, Director General Military Intelligence Lt. Gen. D. K. Summanwar and other senior officers of the army were also present. 


 	








WOMEN – CHILDREN KILLED


February 10: In an encounter, a woman Naseema Begum daughter of Bashir Ahmed Sheikh of Kither was also injured in the shootout. Later, she succumbed to her injuries in the hospital


February 22: Two children out of 4 persons were shot dead by the troops of 33RR in Kupwara. Aamir Hajam (6) son of Mohd Akbar and Shakir Ahmad Wani (7) son of Ghulam Hassan were shot dead while playing in fields at Dodhipora, Handwara, district Kupwara.


February 23: A woman, Sara Begum was killed when troops fired a mortar shell on her house at Arigam, Bandipora, Baramulla.
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According to the Government Home Department, Srinagar, Jammu and Kashmir





The total number of civilians, security forces and militants killed during the period 01.01.2005 till 31.01.2006 is as under:-





			2005		2006		Total


Civilians killed  - 	556		13		569


Indian Forces	  -	244		09		253


Militants killed  -	917		47		964





During this period 312 ex-gratia relief cases of civilians were settled, while 194 cases are under process for completion of the various formalities required.
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